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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

ANNA VASQUEZ,
Plaintiff(s),

V. No. 3:17<v-852(VAB)

DAVID GARCIA,
Defendant.

RULING AND ORDER ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Anna Vasquez (“Plaintiff’) sued David Garcia (“Defendanifider 42 U.S.C. § 1983,
alleging violations oher substantivelk process rightsinder 42 U.S.C. § 19&hdfor
negligent infliction of enotional distress and assault under Connecticut law.

Mr. Garcia has moved for summary judgmat.

For the following reason$/r. Garcia’smotion for summary judgment GRANTED.

Ms. Vasques Section 1983 claims are dismissed as a matter ofutmiithe Court
declines to exercise supmental jurisdiction over her remaining state law clairasulting in
the closing of this case.
l. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Factual Allegations

This casearisesout of aseriesof text messagesentfrom Mr. Garcig anofficer anda
detectivein the BridgeportPoliceDepartmentto Ms. VasquezetweenFebruary 26, 201&nd
April 19, 2016 Def. Statemenbf MaterialFact,ECFNo. 34-1 T 1(Apr. 12, 2019)“Def.
SMF"); Pl. Statemenbf Factsin OppositionECFNo. 38 { 1(May 20, 2019)“Pl. SMF");

Compl.,ECFNo. 1  5(May 23, 2017).
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At some poinbeforeFebruary2015,Ms. Vasque4iled alarcenycomplaintwith the
BridgeportPoliceDepartmentPI. Additional Material Facts ECFNo. 38at 5 (May 20, 2019)
(“Pl. Additional Facts”).Mr. Garcia in his capacityasdetectivefor the Bridgeport Police
Departmentinvestigate it. During thecourseof thisinvestigationMr. GarciaandMs. Vasquez
“had numerous conversationsd. Ms. Vasquezhadaskedfor Mr. Garcia’shelpbecauséhey
hadsocializedtogethemreviously.Def. SMF | 5;PI. SMF { 5.Ms. Vasquez'shenboyfriend
wasaclosefriend of Mr. Garcia.Def. SMF § 2;Pl. SMF | 21

OnMarch4, 2016 by text messageyis. VasquezaskedMr. Garcia“to inquire about
itemstakenfrom herethat[were] beinginvestigatedy thedefendant.’PIl. Additional Factsat 5.
Mr. Garciatold herthathewouldcall in anhour.ld. BetweenMarch4 andMarch5 of 2016 Mr.
Garcig howeversentaseriesof graphicandsexualtextsto Ms. VasquezDef.’s Exhibit A, ECF
No. 34-2at2 (Apr. 12, 2019)“Def. Exh.A”"). 2 The content othesetext messagedid not
mention,refer,or to relate[sic] to anypolice business or investigatiorief. SMF 6.

At thetime of thesemessagedMis. Vasquedived in New Haven,Connecticutrather
thanBridgeport,ConnecticutDef. SMF  9;PI. SMF { 9.Mr. Garcig however, did not know
thatshehadmovedto New Haven.ld. After receivingthe graphi@andsexualtext messagesyis.

VasqueZelt offended scaredembarrassednddisrespected?l. SMF { 8.

1 Ms. Vasquezhadachild with Mr. Garcia’sclosefriend andbelievedMr. Garciato be herthenboyfriend’scousin.
Id. Ms. Vasquez'selationshipwith Mr. Garcia’sclosefriend endedn the earlysummerof 2015.Def. SMF {1 4; PI.
SMF 14.

2 The textmessageallegedly sent on February 25, 20héve not been recovered. Def. Mem. at 2. The text
messageallegedly contained sexually suggestive texts from Ms. Vasquewenadollowed by “a sexually
charged telephone conversatiotd” at 23.



B. Procedural History

OnMay 23, 2017Ms. Vasquefiled this Complaint,allegingviolations of 42 U.S.C. §
1983,negligentinfliction of emotionalistressandcivil assaultCompl.,ECFNo. 1 (May 23,
2017). Shalsofiled a motionfor leaveto proceedn forma pauperis. Mot. to Proceedn Forma
Pauperis, ECFNo. 2 (May 23, 2017).

OnMay 24, 2017, the Coureferredthe caseto MagistrateJudgewilliam 1. Garfinkelto
reviewthemotionfor leaveto proceedn forma pauperis. Order,ECFNo. 6 (May 24, 2017).
JudgeGarfinkelgrantedthemotion onMay 25, 2018 0Order,ECFNo. 7 (May 25, 2017).

On August 10, 201 Mr. Garciatimely filed an Answer Answer,ECFNo. 14 (Aug. 10,
2017).

On November 9, 2018he Courtheld a postdiscoverytelephonicstatusconference.
Minute Entry, ECFNo. 24 (Nov. 9, 2018).

OnApril 12, 2019Mr. Garciatimely filed amotionfor summaryjudgmentanda
memorandunin support of his motiorSee Mot. for SummaryJudgmentECFNo. 33 (Apr. 12,
2019);Def.'s Mem.,ECFNo. 34 (Apr. 12, 2019)Def. SMF.

OnMay 20, 2019Ms. VasqueZiled atimely memorandunmn oppositionto Mr.
Garcia’smotion, a countestatemenbdf materialfacts,andsupportingexhibits.See Pl.’s Mem. in
Opp.,ECFNo. 37 (May 20, 2019)Y"“Pl.’'s Opp.”); Pl. SMF,; Pl.’s First Exhibit —Vasquez
Deposition,ECFNo. 39 (May 20, 2019)"“PI. VasquezDep.”); Pl.’s Secondexhibit —Garcia
Deposition,ECFNo. 40 (May 20, 2019)“GarciaDep").

On November 26, 2019, the Cotmtld amotionhearingon themotionfor sumnary
judgment. Minuteentry, ECFNo. 44 Dec 2, 2019).

. STANDARD OF REVIEW



A motionfor summaryjudgmentwill begrantedf therecordshows no genuingsueas
to anymaterialfact,andthe movants “entitled to judgmentasamatterof law.” Fed.R. Civ.P.
56(a). The movingpartybearstheinitial burdenof establishingheabsencef a genuine dispute
of materialfact. Celotex Corp. v. Cartrett, 477U.S.317, 323 (1986)I'he non-movingparty may
defeatthemotionby producingsufficientspecificfactsto establishthatthereis a genuinessue
of materialfactfor trial. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477U.S.242, 249 (1986).

“[T]he mereexistenceof some allegedfactualdisputebetweerthe partieswill notdefeat
an otherwiseproperlysupportednotionfor summaryjudgment;therequirements thattherebe
no genuine issueof material fact.” Id. at 247—-48.The movingparty maysatisfythis burdenby
pointing outto thedistrict courtanabsencef evidenceo support the nonmovingarty’scase.
See PepsiCo, Inc. v. Coca-Cola Co., 315 F.3d 101, 10&d Cir. 2002)(percuriam).

Whenamotionfor summaryjudgments supportedy documentaryevidenceandsworn
affidavitsand“demonstratesheabsencef a genuinéssueof materialfact,” the nonmoving
party must domorethanvaguelyassertheexistenceof someunspecifieddisputedmaterialfacts
or “rely on conclusorgllegationsor unsubstantiated speculatioRdbinson v. Concentra
Health Servs., Inc., 781 F.3d 42, 442d Cir. 2015)(citationomitted). The party opposing the
motionfor summaryjudgment‘must comeforwardwith specificevidencedemonstrating the
existenceof a genuine dispute afaterialfact.” 1d.; see also Atkinson v. Rinaldi, 3:15€v-913
(DJS),2016WL 7234087at*1 (D. Conn.Dec.14, 2016) (holding nonmovingarty must
presenevidencehatwould allow reasonablgury to find in his favorto defeatmotionfor
summaryjudgment);Pelletier v. Armstrong, 3:99¢v-1559(HBF), 2007WL 685181 at*7 (D.

Conn.Mar. 2, 2007)X“[A] nonmovingparty mustpresentsignificant probative evidenct®



creategenuinassueof materialfact.””) (quotingSoto v. Meachum, 3:90€v-270(WWE), 1991
WL 218481 at*6 (D. Conn.Aug. 28, 1991)).

A courtmust view any inferences drawn from the facts in the light most favorable to the
party opposing the summary judgment motidofort v. City of New York, 874 F.3d 338, 343
(2d Cir. 2017). A cournwill not credit conclusory allegatns or denialsBrown v. Eli Lilly &
Co., 654 F.3d 347, 358 (2d Cir. 2011). After drawing all inferences in favor of the non-moving
party, if the court finds that no reasonable trier of fact could find in the non-movaisand
the moving party is ented to judgment as a matter of law, ttoart will grant the summary
judgment motionMatsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 587-88
(1986).
1. DISCUSSION

A. The Section 1983 Claims

“Section 1983 provides a federal remedy for ‘the deprivation of any rights egesi] or
immunities secured by the Constitution and ldy a person acting under the color of state
law. Golden State Transit Corp. v. City of Los Angeles, 493 U.S. 103, 105 (1989) (quoting 42
U.S.C. § 1983)see also Corngov. Bell, 592 F.3d 121, 127 (2d Cir. 2010) (stating that section
1983 “provides ‘a method for vindicating federal rights elsewhere conferredidinglunder
the Constitution”) (quotig Baker v. McCollan, 443 U.S. 147, 144 n.3 (1979)). “Section 1983
does not itself grant substantive rights; rather it provides ‘a method for vindi¢etieral rights
elsewhere conferred.Williams v. City of New York, 2006 WL 2668211, at *26 (E.D.N.Y. Sept.
11, 2006) (quotindpatterson, 375 F.3d at 225).

“The first inquiry in any 8 1983 suit...is whether the plaintiff has been deprived of a right

‘secured by the Constitution and lawsBaker, 443 U.S. at 140 (quoting 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983). The



second inquiry is whether the plaintiff has shown that “[the conduct at issue §amshitted
by a person acting under color of state lawZdrngjo, 592 F.3d at 127 (quotirigjtchell v.
Callan, 13 F.3d 545, 547 (2d Cir. 1994)). Related to the second inquiry, the &otmplst
indicate that the challenged action was “fairly attributable to the Statgat v. Edmonson Qil
Co., 457 U.S. 922, 936-37 (1982).

Because the threshold issue is whether Mr. Garcia was acting under colomdfda he
sent these text messagesvts. Vasquez, the Court will addressstissue first and then, only if
necessary, address the validity of her substantive claims.

1. TheColor of Law Issue

In a Section 1983 action, a court must determine “(1) whether the conduct complained of
was committed by a person acting under color of state law; and (2) whethewsriuct
deprived a person of rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Coastibutihe laws of
the United StatesParratt v. Taylor, 451 U.S. 527, 535 (1981gyerruled on other grounds by
Danielsv. Williams, 474 U.S. 327 (1986). “To act under color of state law or authority for
purposes of section 1983, the defendant must heareised power possessed by virtue of state
law and made possible only because the wrongdoer is clothed with the authority @veta
Monsky v. Moraghan, 127 F.3d 243, 245 (2d Cir. 1997) (quothvgst v. Atkins, 487 U.S. 42, 49
(1988) (internal quotation marks omittegge also U.S. v. Tarpley, 945 F.2d 806, 809 (51ir.
1991) @ “[m]isuse of power, possessed by virtue of state law and made possible only because
the wrongdoer is clothed with the authority of state law is action taken under cstateof
law...[a]cts of officers who undertake to perform their official duties arnedec whether they

hew to the line of their authority or overstep (titations omitted)).



Ms. Vasquez alleges thistr. Garcia was acting under the color of law when he lsent
the graphic text messages.'$0pp. at 6.She argueghat the information about her case was a
ruse to get her number from a mutual acquaintandethat he was working as a police officer at
thetime. Id. at 7. Ms. Vasquealso argues, thathile acting under the color of lawir. Garcia
created a hostile work environment and violated Ms. Vasquez’s “substantive due pigitet®
bodily integrity.”Id. at 9.

Mr. Garcia argues théth]e was off duty, was never in uniform, and per plaintiff’'s own
testimony, did not discuss police work in general or her ‘case’ in particuangh he sent the
text messages. D&f.Mem. at 8. In his view, i8 druinkentextmessagewere”within the ambit
of [the officer’s] personal pursuits and [was] not done under pretense ofl th\iiriternal
guotation marks and ciiahs omitted).

The Court agrees.

The focus of a color of law inquiry is “whether there was an abuse or misuse af powe
conferred upon [an officer] by state authoritiitchell v. Callan, 13 F.3d 545, 549 (2d Cir.

1994) see Jocksv. Tavernier, 316 F.3d 128, 134 (2d Cir. 2003) (“We have no doubt that when
an officer identifies himself as a police officer and uses his service pestuits under color of
law.”); seealso U.S. v. Walsh, 194 F.3d 37, 51 (2d Cir. 1999) (finding the defendant was acting
under the color of law when “on duty and in full uniform, [ ] acting within his authority to
supervise and care for inmates under his watch[,]” the defendant assaulted ah ff\vigdile

it is clear that ‘personal pursuits’ of policeioérs do not give rise to section 1983 liability, there
is no bright line test for distinguishing ‘personal pursuits’ from activia&ern under color of

law.” 1d. at 548.



Indeed, “liability may be found/here a police officer, albeit affuty, nonetheless
invokes the real or apparent power of the police departnieimttiell, 13 F.3d at 548.see
Riverav. La Porte, 896 F.2d 691, 695-96 (2d Cir. 1990) (“The off-duty status of an arresting
officer does not mean that he is not acting under color of law.”). “In short, courts look to the
nature of the officer’s acts, not simply his duty statusl.’ cf. Roe v. City of Waterbury, 542
F.3d 31, 41 (2d Cir. 200§)An official acts within his official policymaking capacity when he
acts in accordance with thesponsibility delegated him uedstate law for making policy in that
area of the municipality’s business.”).

Significantly, inPitchell, an off-duty, drunken police officer who pointed a gun at
another person “was not acting in accordance with a police regulation . . . nor was he invoking
the authority of the police departmexst in the pretense of law casek3 F.3d at 548. The
Second Circuit recognized that: tAough [that off-duty police officer] violated the law, he did
SO as a private citizen, not as a state actit. Similarly, the Second Circuit recognizedRoe
that: “an official acts wholly outside his official policymaking capacity whemlisuses his
power to advance a purely personal agenda.” 542 F.3d at 41.

Here, the undisputed facts make clearfiilowing: (1)Mr. Garcia was ofduty when he
sent the graphic and sexual text messages to Ms. VasagfeExhibit B — GarciaAffidavit,
ECFNo. 34-3114 (Apr. 12, 2019) Garcia Affidavit), see also Def. Exhibit C —-Vasquez
Dep., ECF No. 34+ at38:17-396 (Apr. 12, 2019) (Def. Vasquez Dep). (“ | would imagine that
he was not working becaufibe text messages were sent] at night(2) Mr. Garciahad no
authority from the Bridgeport Police Departmenteadsgraphic and sexual tertessage®

Ms. VasquezGarcia Affidavit] 14 ; and (3) Mr. Garciaid not mention or otherwise refer to



himself as a police officer in any of the graphic and sexual text mes&aje&xhibit A —Text
Messages, ECF No. 34-2 (Apr. 12, 2019).

As aresult, there imothing in this record suggesg thatMr. Garciainvoked the name of
the Bridgeport Police Departmemnt his authority as a Bridgeport police officer in sending these
text messages, much less indicate st Vasquez needed to respondiese text messages
because he wasBaidgeportpolice officer.Cf. Wahhab v. City of N.Y., 386 F. Supp. 2d 277, 289
(2d Cir. 2005) (denying summary judgment where relevant factors—whethef theyof
officers identified themselves to plaintiff, whethee tif duty officers used handcuffs, whether
plaintiff knew the defendants were officers, and whether defendants engagednvestigation
of the commotion—ereated a genuine issue of material faddreover, there is rbing in this
recordindicatingthat Mr. Garcia had any authorization from anyone in the BridgepoudePoli
Department othe police regulations of the Bridgeport Police Department to send Ms. Vasquez
these graphic and sexual text messagesPitchell, 13 F.3d at 54&ecognizing that officer was
not a state actor when h&as not acting in accordance with a police regulation . . . nor was he
invoking the authority of the police department as in the pretense of law gases.”

Accordingly, because Mr. Garcia wast iacting under the color of lawhen he set
these text messages to Ms. Vasquez, Ms. Vasqgsazisn 1983 claims against him will be

dismissed.



2. The Substantive Section 1983 Claims

Because the Court concludes that Garcia was not acting under the color of law, the
Court need not and does not address the substance of her §di683°

B. StateLaw Claims

Because thelaintiff's federal claims are dismissed, the Court declines to exercise
supplemental jurisdictionverher state law claim&ee Kolari v. N.Y.-Presbyterian Hosp., 455
F.3d 118, 122 (2d Cir. 2006) (thstrict court' may decline to exercise supplemental
jurisdiction if it ‘has dismissed all claims over which it has original jurisdi€ti¢eiting 28
U.S.C. 8§ 1367(c)(3); Castellano v. Bd. of Trustees, 937 F.2d 752, 758 (2d Cir. 1991) (quoting
United Mine Workersv. Gibbs, 383 U.S. 715, 726 (1991)[([f the federalclaims are dismissed
before trial . . , the state claims should be dismissed as'yetke also 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3)
(“Thedistrict courts may decline to exercise supplemental jurisdictien a claim under
subsection (a) if . . . the district court has dismissed all claims over which itigpaglo

jurisdiction?).

3 Because a violation of a state constitutional right is not cognizable und88§tté Court would haveadto
decline reviewingher Section 1983 claim based on the Connecticut Constitutianyi eventSee Raadvanksy v.

City of Olmstead Falls, 395 F.3d 291, 314 (6th Cir. 2005) (“[A] claimed violation of a state constitaitiright is

not cognizable under § 1983.Hansall v. Brazell, 85 F. App’x 237, 238 (2d Cir. 2004) (“In order to seek redress
through 8 1983. . ., a plaintiff must assert the violation of a federal righimacely a violation of federal law.”
(citing Blessing v. Freestone, 520 U.S. 329, 340 (1997)).
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V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasondy. Garcia’smotion for summary judgmet GRANTED.
BecauséVis. Vasques'’s section 1983 claims are dismissed as a matter of law and the
Court declines to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over her remaining statiailas the

Clerk of the Courts respectfully requested to enter judgment in favdvinfGarcia and to close

this case.

SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticut, this théday ofDecember2019.

/s/ Victor A. Bolden
VICTOR A. BOLDEN
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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